IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2007-KA-00108-COA

ROBERT L. GRANT

APPELLANT

v.

×

٦

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

EARL LINDSAY CARTER, JR. ATTORNEY AT LAW 404 HEMPHILL STREET HATTIESBURG, MS 39401 (601) 545-8142, MSB #

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies pursuant to Mississippi Supreme Court Rule

28(a)(1) that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. These

representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible

disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE MISSISSIPPI CAPITAL MURDER (FELONY MURDER) STATUTE IS NOT APPLICABLE IN THE CASE OF A DEATH OF A CO-CONSPIRATOR.

- 1

II. THE JURY WAS NOT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON CAPITAL MURDER BY THE TRIAL COURT GRANTING INSTRUCTION S-13.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING ROBERT GRANT'S EXPERT TO GIVE HIS OPINION AS TO HIS FIRST TWO CONCLUSIONS.

IV. THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING INADMISSABLE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF CHRIS THOMAS.

V. THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT AS AN HABITUAL AS THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT PROPERLY AUTHENTICATED.

1

VI. THE VERDICT OF GUILTY WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural facts are as follows. Robert Grant was indicted on September 30, 2004 by a Pearl River County Grand Jury on a one count indictment charging that on or about July 17, 2004, he committed the crime of Capital Murder. C.P. 6.

Robert Grant's trial began on August 28, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Pearl River County. The jury found him guilty of Murder, and sentenced him as a habitual to serve a sentence of life without the possibility of parole. C.P. 273.

It is from this conviction and sentence that Robert Grant brings the present appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The statement of the facts as they pertain to the issues on appeal are as follows. On July 16, 2004 around midnight, Deputy Adam Naquin was dispatched to a home invasion. T. 13. The home was a trailer which was occupied by Terry Wayne Adams, Skipper Bowens, Jerome Williams, and Roderick Shanks. T. 17. After investigating the crime, a barking dog alerted the officer to the woodline. T. 26. One of the trailer occupants also stated to the officer that he thought he saw someone running. T. 26. Deputy Naquin and Detective Kramer walked over to the woods and discovered a body. T. 26. This body was located almost two and one half hours after Officer Naquin first arrived on the scene. T. 34. No one claimed to know that anyone was shot until the body was found. T. 34.

The law enforcement officers investigated the crime and determined that the body was that of Arthur Joshua, and they then determined that he was shot in the living room. T. 68. They also determined that the body had been drug into the woods. T. 76. After interviewing the occupants of the trailer, it was determined that two men entered the trailer fired some shots and stole some stuff out of the safe. T. 82.

Shannon Landry and Terry Wayne Adams were the only two witnesses that placed Robert Grant at the trailer the night that Arthur Joshua was killed. Shannon Landry was dating Arthur Joshua at the time of his death. T. 195. Shannon had previously dated Terry Wayne Adams. T. 170. Shannon testified that she still visited Terry Wayne Adams, and that Arthur Joshua would not have liked this. T. 220. Shannon Landry also gave three inconsistent statements to law enforcement. T. 208. Terry Wayne Adams testified that he moved two pounds of marijuana into the woods before law enforcement arrived. T. 176. Terry Wayne Adams was also the only person that tested positive for gunshot residue, which was on his left

palm. T. 395. Both Terry Wayne Adams and Shannon Landry plead to lesser charges in exchange for their testimony. T. 194, 222.

Robert Grant request that the verdict of the jury and the sentences imposed upon him by the Trial Court be reversed and a new trial granted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Robert Grant raises six issues for review by this Court. The first involves the trial court's error in allowing Robert Grant to be tried for capital murder for the death of a co-conspirator.

Second, the jury was not properly instructed on capital murder, but falsely instructed to return a verdict of murder.

Third, the trial court erred in not allowing Robert Grant's expert to testify as to his first two conclusions. As such, many of the prosecution's expert's opinions went unquestioned.

Fourth, the trial court allowed inadmissible hearsay testimony of Chris Thomas.

Fifth, the trial court erred in sentencing Robert Grant as a habitual. The prosecution attempted to enter into evidence "pen packs", which were not properly authenticated.

Finally, the facts of the trial prove that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Only two witnesses placed Robert Grant at the scene of the crime. Both witnesses were entangled, and received lesser charges as a result of their testimony.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the standard of review typically requires that the evidence be viewed in the light most favorable to the Appellee. However, in capital cases, the standard is different. The Court must review the evidence in "the light most favorable to the defendant (Appellant) and [consider] all the reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the defendant (Appellant) from the evidence." *Drake v. State*, 800 So. 2d 508 (Miss. 2001), citing *Underwood v. State*, 708 So. 2d 18, 36 (Miss. 1998) and *Fairchild v. State*, 459 So. 2d 793, 801. In *Drake*, the State did not seek the death penalty and the defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment. Despite the fact that the death penalty was not a possible sentence, this Court still applied the alternate standard and evaluated the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellant.

I. THE MISSISSIPPI CAPITAL MURDER (FELONY MURDER) STATUTE IS NOT APPLICABLE IN THE CASE OF A DEATH OF A CO-CONSPIRATOR.

Many prior cases discuss the issue of whether or not the Mississippi capital murder statute is unconstitutional. The main issue seems to revolve around the finding of specific intent. The Mississippi Supreme Court thoroughly analyzed the constitutionality of Mississippi's capital murder statute in *Holland v. State*, 705 So. 2d 307 (Miss. 1997). Therein, the Court readdressed its prior decision in *Gray v. State*, 351 So. 2d 1342, 1344 (Miss. 1977), *cert. denied*, 446 U.S. 988, 100 S.Ct. 2975, 64 L.Ed.2d 847 (1980), *reh'g denied*, 448 U.S. 912, 101 S.Ct. 30, 65 L.Ed.2d 1174 (1980). The Court held as follows:

Gray's Eighth Amendment claim addressed the imposition of the death penalty. Under Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 187-88, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 2931-32, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976), reh'g denied, 429 U.S. 875, 97 S.Ct. 197, 50 L.Ed.2d 158 (1976), a death sentence must not be excessive in relation to the crime for which it is imposed, and death sentences must be imposed with reasonable consistency. Holland contends that Mississippi's capital murder scheme imposing death on an unpremeditated murder, but not a premeditated murder committed in an atrocious manner, implicates the Eighth Amendment concerning fair trial guarantees. Holland, 705 So. 2d at 320.

The Court subsequently found that Holland's argument overlooks the fact that our statute restricts, limits and narrows capital murder to certain classes of cases. One class consists of those cases in which two crimes have been committed, i.e., murder and another specified type felony. *Id.* at 320.

The Court further held that Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(7)(a-d) further restricts capital murder in those classes to those persons the sentencing jury finds (1) actually killed; (2) attempted to kill; (3) intended to kill; or (4) contemplated lethal force be used. *Id.* at 320.

The Constitutional challenge asserted here does not offend the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and this conclusion has been long ago held by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in *Gray v. Lucas*, 677 F.2d 1086 (5th Cir. 1982), *reh'g denied*, 685 F.2d 139 (5th Cir. 1982), *cert. denied*, 461 U.S. 910, 103 S.Ct. 1886, 76 L.Ed.2d 815, *reh'g denied*, 462 U.S. 1124, 103 S.Ct. 3099, 77 L.Ed.2d 1357 (1983).

Gray also addressed the due process or equal protection challenge of the Fourteenth Amendment and upheld Mississippi's legislative classifications of criminal activity therein stating:

The basis of Gray's claim under both equal protection and due process is that there is no rational basis for imposing the death penalty on people who commit murder during the course of a felony but not imposing it on people who commit especially atrocious simple murder. However, Mississippi could have rationally decided that felony murders pose a problem different from atrocious simple murders and could have sought to cure the felony murder problem first. Alternatively, the legislature could have decided that the death penalty would be more effective in deterring felony murders since an experienced felon is more likely to assess the consequences of his acts. Conversely, it could have rationally determined that the death penalty might not effectively deter atrocious simple murders since such people are likely as a group to act on passion or impulse and thus be unmindful of the consequences of their crime. In short, the legislature could have rationally decided that the one class of murders either presented a different problem from the other or that the death penalty would be more effective deterrent [sic] to felony murders than atrocious simple murders.

Holland, 705 So. 2d at 320, citing Gray, 677 F.2d at 1104.

The Mississippi Supreme Court previously held that its capital murder statute is not in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, with regard to the challenge that the statute permits a capital murder conviction for certain felony murders without a finding of intent to kill, but does not include premeditated murder.

While it is obvious from the above cases that Mississippi's capital murder statute is constitutional, the facts in this case present a different issue. This issue is whether or not the legislature intended that Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e), which is the felony murder portion of the capital murder statute, is intended to apply in the scenario of a co-conspirator dying during the commission of another listed crime. Mississippi defines capital murder as follows:

(2) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be capital murder in the following cases:

(a) Murder which is perpetrated by killing a peace officer or fireman while such officer or fireman is acting in his official capacity or by reason of an act performed in his official capacity, and with knowledge that the victim was a peace officer or fireman. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "peace officer" means any state or federal law enforcement officer including but not limited to a federal park ranger, the sheriff of or police officer of a city or town, a conservation officer, a parole officer, a judge, prosecuting attorney or any other court official, an agent of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Division of the State Tax Commission, an agent of the Bureau of Narcotics, personnel of the Mississippi Highway Patrol, and the employees of the Department of Corrections who are designated as peace officers by the Commissioner of Corrections pursuant to Section 47-5-54, and the superintendent and his deputies, guards, officers and other employees of the Mississippi State Penitentiary;

(b) Murder which is perpetrated by a person who is under sentence of life imprisonment;

(c) Murder which is perpetrated by use or detonation of a bomb or explosive device;

(d) Murder which is perpetrated by any person who has been offered or has received anything of value for committing the murder, and all parties to such a murder, are guilty as principals; (e) When done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of rape, burglary, kidnapping, arson, robbery, sexual battery, unnatural intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse with mankind, or in any attempt to commit such felonies;

(f) When done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of felonious abuse and/or battery of a child in violation of subsection (2) of Section 97-5-39, or in any attempt to commit such felony;

(g) Murder which is perpetrated on educational property as defined in Section 97-37-17;

(h) Murder which is perpetrated by the killing of any elected official of a county, municipal, state or federal government with knowledge that the victim was such public official.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(a-h).

The above statute does not have any controlling language concerning this issue.

Remarkably there are very few cases which discuss this particular issue. In United States v.

Schwanke, 598 F.2d 575, 579 (10th Cir. 1979), the Appellant contends that Congress did not

contemplate enhancing the penalty under the statute for the unlawful misuse of explosives where

the only party injured is the indicted defendant standing trial. The Schwanke court also

suggested in dicta that even an injury suffered by a co-conspirator would not trigger application

of the sentence enhancement provision. Id. at 579. This case went on to compare this statute

with the felony murder cases, because of the close analogy. Drawing upon state court precedent

from the felony murder context, the court reasoned:

It would not be seriously contended that one accidentally killing himself while engaged in the commission of a felony was guilty of murder. If the defendant is guilty of murder because of the accidental killing of his co-conspirator, then it must follow that [the deceased co-conspirator] was also guilty of murder, and, if he had recovered from his burns, that he would have been guilty of an attempt to commit murder. *Id.* (quoting *People v. Ferlin*, 203 Cal. 587, 596-97, 265 P. 230, 234-35 (1928)). The court therefore announced that it was "not inclined to attribute to Congress an enhancement of the penalty where the only injury is to the criminal himself, or to his co-conspirator." *Id.* at 579.

In *Grayson v. Mississippi*, 806 So. 2d 241, 252 (Miss. 2001), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated as follows:

In a felony murder, the felon is considered "at risk" while committing the felony so that if a homicide results, it is considered murder, or, as in Mississippi, capital murder if associated with the felonies, designated by the legislature. The legislature's intent is to protect the citizenry from the evil of the lesser felony by imposing a greater penalty upon a homicide occurring during its commission.

Of importance is the Court's statement "The legislature's intent is to protect the citizenry..." Robert Grant would contend that it is the intent of the legislature to protect the citizenry or the innocent victims. There is no rational reasoning that the legislature drafted this legislation to protect the conspirator or co-conspirator from the harm that could come to them in committing one of the listed felonies. However, if this were the intent, it is conceivable that one could receive the death penalty for the death of a co-conspirator when one has minimum culpability, and certainly no intent to cause the death of the co-conspirator. The lack of intent could be in conflict with prior rulings such as *Enmund v. Florida*, 458 U.S. 782, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140, 102 S.Ct. 3368 (1982) and *Tison v. Arizona*, 481 U.S. 137, 95 L.Ed.2d 127, 107 S.Ct. 1676 (1987).

In *Enmund*, the Court held that the Eighth Amendment was violated by imposition of the death penalty on a person who aided and abetted a felony murder by driving the getaway car in a robbery, but who did not himself kill or intend to kill. 458 U.S. at 796-97. In *Tison*, the Court held that the culpability requirement imposed by Enmund could be satisfied by "major participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life." 481 U.S. at 137.

Turning to the facts of the instant case, five people were in the trailer during the robbery, but only Terry Adams claimed to see Robert Grant. T. 154-55. Terry Adams is a convicted felon who admitted to moving two pounds of marijuana before calling law enforcement. T. 176. Terry Adams was also the only person who tested positive for gunshot residue, which was on his left hand. T. 395. No one testified as to who shot Arthur Joshua. Jerome Williams testified that he knew for a fact that no one was shot in the home. T. 126. These facts indicate that no one saw Robert Grant shoot Arthur Joshua. Even though the jury did believe that Robert Grant was involved in the robbery, this at most was nothing more than an accidental death of a coconspirator. As previously stated, Robert Grant respectfully contends that the legislature did not intend that the felony murder statute protect conspirators and co-conspirators. Therefore, the Robert Grant requests that the decision of the trial court be reversed.

II. THE JURY WAS NOT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON CAPITAL MURDER BY THE TRIAL COURT GRANTING INSTRUCTION S-13.

The trial court allowed the jury to receive an improper jury instruction on capital murder.

Instruction S-13 states as follows:

The court instructs the jury that if you find from the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt, that: on or about the 17th day of July 2004 in Pearl River County Mississippi, the deceased, Arthur Joshua, was a living human being; and was killed, without authority of law; while the defendant, Robert L. Grant, was engaged in the commission of a robbery, when the mortal or fatal shot was fired, whether or not the defendant had any intention of actually killing Arthur Joshua then you shall find the defendant Robert L. Grant guilty of murder.

C.P. 239. The last word of this instruction is simply murder. Robert L. Grant was charged in his indictment with capital murder under Miss. Code § 97-3-19(2)(e). While attempting to instruct the jury on capital murder under the felony murder portion of the statute, this instruction incorrectly instructs the jury on a completely different charge of murder. Mississippi defines murder as follows:

(1) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder in the following cases:

(a) When done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed, or of any human being;

(b) When done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual;

(c) When done without any design to effect death by any person engaged in the commission of any felony other than rape, kidnapping, burglary, arson, robbery, sexual battery, unnatural intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse with mankind, or felonious abuse and/or battery of a child in violation of subsection (2) of Section 97-5-39, or in any attempt to commit such felonies.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(a-c).

Simple murder under the above cited section requires some form of intent, while capital murder under felony murder only requires that an unlawful killing occur during the commission of one of the listed felonies. Each crime requires completely different elements in order to prove. Appellant would therefore ask that this Court reverse the trial court's decision and remand for a new trial.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING ROBERT GRANT'S EXPERT TO GIVE HIS OPINION AS TO HIS FIRST TWO CONCLUSIONS.

The standard of review for reviewing the trial court's admissibility of evidence, including expert testimony, is abuse of discretion. *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003); *McGowen v. State*, 859 So. 2d 320, 328 (Miss. 2003); *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So. 2d 948, 958 (Miss. 2002).

Miss. R. Evid. 702 states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient fact or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

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