IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT L. GRANT

VS.

FILED

APPELLANT

NOV 0 6 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0108-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DESHUN T. MARTIN

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-0108-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Pearl River County, Mississippi, in which the Appellant, Robert L. Grant, was convicted and sentenced for the felony crime of **CAPITAL MURDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972) and as a **HABITUAL OFFENDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-83 (1972).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or before July 17, 2004, in Pearl River County, Mississippi, Robert L. Grant (Grant) did wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously, knowingly and intentionally effect the death of Arthur Joshua. (R. E. 6).

On July 16, 2004, Deputy Naquin was dispatched to a home invasion. (Tr. 13). Shannon Landry, Robert Grant, and Arthur Joshua conspired to and committed robbery at 123 Ed Reid Road, Lumberton, Mississippi.

Below is the testimony of Shannon Landry, one of the three co - conspirators.

Q. What, if anything, did you, Robert Grant and Arthur Joshua do together on that day?

A. They robbed Terry Adams, and I picked them up. (Tr. 197).

The direct eye witness testimony of Jerome Williams regarding the facts of the vicious attack / robbery are below.

- A. Well, I fell asleep watching the movie, and the next thing I know, my front door-abductors opened it up and a man stepped in, with a mask on, and proceeded to beat me over the head with a two by four.
- Q. And you said this man had a mask on?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you know what kind of mask it was?
- A. It looked like the kind of mask--a ski mask or whatever you call it.
- O. What color was it?
- A. It was white. I believe it looked like white.
- Q. White, and what happened with the man that came in your door?
- A. He proceeded to beat me over the head with a two by four, and I threw my arms up to try to block the blow, and he told me to get down on my face, or he'd kill me. So I got down on the floor like he told me.
- Q. Okay, and after you got down on the floor, what happened?
- A. I heard some steps go by me, and he stood there for a little while, and then he went back to the back.
- Q. Okay, and do you know that was that had the white mask on with the two b four hitting you in the head?
- A. When it first happened, no, I didn't know, cause I was too busy trying to defend myself, and I didn't even think about it until after it was over. After it was over, I recognized his voice.
- Q. Okay, when you say after it was over, you mean when he quit hitting you or--
- A. Well, after the commotion, they had left the house and everything had calmed down, and I'm trying to think about who this was. Why it happened and all that kind of stuff, and then I recognized his voice.
- Q. Okay, you recognized his voice before the police got there?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay, and who was it that hit you over the head with the two by four?
- A. It was Arthur.
- O. Arthur who?
- A. What's his name, Joshua.
- O. Arthur Joshua?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. How do you know Arthur Joshua?
- A. Well, I been knowing Arthur Joshua for quite a few years. I use to hang out with his half-cousin. He be over there some time, and we be drinking beer and stuff like that. We been to a few parties. I'd see him at the parties at Robert's house. I'd see him at different places in Lumberton. I gave him the privilege to hunt on my land. Him and Robert both had privilege to hunt on my land.

- Q. He and Robert both had the privilege to hunt on your land?
- A. Uh-huh.
- Q. Okay, and when you say Robert, who are you referring to?
- A. Robert Grant.
- Q. Okay. Do you know Robert Grant?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Do you see him in the Courtroom today?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Could you point him out for us?
- A. Right there.
- A. I remember steps going by. I remember, after laying there a while, it got kind of quite.
- So I kind of raised up a little bit to see what was going on. By that time, the door was opening and Tishma and Skip was coming back.
- A. When they came back, somebody started shooting. I don't know who, Robert or Arthur. I just know somebody started shooting.
- Q. Okay, and when they started shooting, what were you doing?
- A. Ducking bullets.
- Q. Okay, and you were still laying down?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What happened after that?
- A. After that, it got quite, and they had left.
- Q. Okay, and--
- A. And I got up.
- Q. --how did they leave?
- A. Huh?
- Q. How did they leave?
- A. Through the back door.
- Q. Okay. Then what did you do?
- A. I got up and started tending to my head.
- Q. Okay, what's the next thing that happened?
- A. I think they went and called the police--called the Sheriff or somebody.
- Q. Okay. (Tr. 101 106).

Below is the direct eye witness testimony of victim Terry Adams.

- A. Then I heard three shots fired--three or four shots fired, and then Robert came to the door and pointed a nine millimeter at me.
- A. I said Robert came to the door and pointed a nine millimeter at me, and so he pointed me down on the ground. I got down on the ground. He tapped me on the back of my shoulder and pointed at my safe. I opened my safe and gave him the contents out of it. (Tr. 153).

Arthur Joshua's body was later found shot dead near the trailer. (Tr. 26).

On September 8, 2006, the Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment without the

eligibility of parole in the Mississippi Department of Corrections for **CAPITAL MURDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972) and **HABITUAL OFFENDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-83 (1972)(R. E. 29). (R. E. 273 - 274).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ĭ.

THE MISSISSIPPI CAPITAL MURDER STATUTE IS APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

CAPITAL MURDER, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972):

- (2) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be capital murder in the following cases:
- (e) When done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of rape, burglary, kidnapping, arson, robbery, sexual battery, unnatural intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse with mankind, or in any attempt to commit such felonies;

II.

THE JURY INSTRUCTION WAS PROPER.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 835 So.2d 927, 934 (Miss. 2002) that when considering a challenge to a jury instruction on appeal, the Court does not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, it reads them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed. <u>Dobbs v. State</u>, 950 So.2d 1029 (Miss. 2006) holds that when read as a whole, if the jury instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, then no reversible error will be found.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RESTRICTING THE APPELLANT'S EXPERT TESTIMONY.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 703. BASES OF OPINION TESTIMONY BY EXPERTS:

The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to him at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 401, "RELEVANT EVIDENCE:"

"Relevant Evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

IV.

THE COURT WAS PROPER IN ALLOWING THE FULL TESTIMONY OF CHRIS THOMAS.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 401, "RELEVANT EVIDENCE:"

"Relevant Evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 801(2): Admission by Party Opponent

(2) Admission by Party-Opponent. The statement is offered against a party and is (A) his own statement, in either his individual or a representative capacity or (B) a statement of which he has manifested his adoption or belief in its truth, or (C) a statement by a person authorized by him to make a statement concerning the subject, or (D) a statement by his agent or servant concerning a matter within the scope of his agency or employment, made during the existence of the relationship, or (E) a statement by a co-conspirator of a party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.

THE APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER.

HABITUAL OFFENDER, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-83 (1972):

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to and served separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, and where any one (1) of such felonies shall have been a crime of violence shall be sentenced to life imprisonment, and such sentence shall not be reduced or suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

VI.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS REFUSAL TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND IN THE ALTERNATIVE A JUDGMENT NOT WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT. THE VERDICT WAS WELL WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Smith v. State, 826 So.2d 768, 770 (Miss. App. 2002) holds that in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial.

THE ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I.

THE MISSISSIPPI CAPITAL MURDER STATUTE IS APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

Appellant's counsel maintains that his issue is whether or not the legislature intended that Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972) is to apply in the scenario of a co-conspirator dying during the commission of a crime. (Appellant Brief 8). The State contends that the elements of the below

capital murder statute are clear met.

CAPITAL MURDER, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972):

- (2) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be capital murder in the following cases:
- (e) When done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of rape, burglary, kidnapping, arson, robbery, sexual battery, unnatural intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse with mankind, or in any attempt to commit such felonies;

In July 2004, some people, Jerome Williams, Roderick Shanks, Roderick Shanks, Jr., Larry Bowens, Terry Adams, Tishma Peralti, and Skipper, lived at 123 Ed Reid Road. (Tr. 151 - 152). During the robbery, the direct eye witness testimony of victim Terry Adams stated that:

- A. Then I heard three shots fired--three or four shots fired, and then Robert came to the door and pointed a nine millimeter at me.
- Q. What did you say?
- A. I said Robert came to the door and pointed a nine millimeter at me, and so he pointed me down on the ground. I got down on the ground. He tapped me on the back of my shoulder and pointed at my safe. I opened my safe and gave him the contents out of it. (Tr. 153).

The direct eye witness testimony of victim Jerome Williams stated that:

- O. Okay, you recognized his voice before the police got there?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay, and who was it that hit you over the head with the two by four?
- A. It was Arthur.
- O. Arthur who?
- A. What's his name, Joshua.
- Q. Arthur Joshua?
- A. Yeah.
- A. When they came back, somebody started shooting. I don't know who, Robert or Arthur. I just know somebody started shooting.
- Q. Okay, and when they started shooting, what were you doing?
- A. Ducking bullets. (Tr. 101 106).

Below is the testimony of Shannon Landry, one of the three co - conspirators.

- Q. On July 16th of the year 2004, in the early hours of the evening, who were you with?
- A. Arthur Joshua.

- Q. And how were y'all traveling?
- A. In my grandmother's car.
- Q. And what kind of car did your grandmother have?
- A. A red Geo Metro.
- Q. Did you have an occasion on that day to meet up with anyone else?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- A. Robert Grant.
- Q. What, if anything, did you, Robert Grant and Arthur Joshua do together on that day?
- A. They robbed Terry Adams, and I picked them up.
- Q. Okay. Earlier in the evening, were all three of you in the car together?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And did you have an occasion to travel out to 123 Ed Reid Road?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Why were y'all going out to Ed Reid Road?
- A. To rob Terry.
- Q. And who was suppose to rob Terry?
- A. Arthur and Robert.
- Q. Arthur and Robert. Now, what was it that Terry had they wanted?
- A. Money.
- Q. Did they know where the money was?
- A. In a safe.
- Q. When you arrived on Ed Reid Road, who got out of the car?
- A. Arthur and Robert.
- Q. And what did you do?
- A. I got in the driver's seat.
- O. And why were you in the driver's seat?
- A. Because I was suppose to come back in an hour and pick them up.
- Q. And pick them up. After the job was done; is that right?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. You knew what they were going out there to do; didn't you?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- O. And you were charged in this case; weren't you?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. You were charged, and you pled guilty; haven't you?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. And what did you plead guilty to?
- A. Accessory before robbery.
- Q. Accessory before a robbery?
- A. Yes.
- Q. But you are the one that drove the car; right?
- A. Right.
- Q. Where did you--where did Robert and Joshua get out of the car?
- A. In the woods near Terry's house, past his house.
- Q. And after they got out, what did you do?
- A. I left.

- Q. And where did you go?
- A. I went to my grandmother's house.
- Q. How long was it before you returned?
- A. An hour.
- Q. And when you returned, tell us what happened.
- A. Robert--well, I was driving to where I was suppose to pick them up, and they weren't there. So I drove up and down the road, and I heard gunshots, and then later Robert came out of the woods and got in the car with me.
- Q. Okay, Robert came out of the woods and got in the car with you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. When he got in the car, what, if anything, happened?
- A. He told me that Arthur had been shot by someone in Terry's house.
- Q. And did he tell you where Arthur had been shot?
- A. In the face.
- Q. In the face?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Robert Grant told you that Arthur Joshua had been shot in the face?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What, if any, kind of weapon did Robert have?
- A. A gun.
- Q. What kind of gun was it, if you know?
- A. I don't know. It was silver. That's all I know. (Tr. 197 201).

Arthur Joshua's body was later found shot dead near the trailer. (Tr. 26).

The State would submit that this issue brought by the Appellant is therefore lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II.

THE JURY INSTRUCTION WAS PROPER.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 835 So.2d 927, 934 (Miss. 2002) that when considering a challenge to a jury instruction on appeal, the Court does not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, it reads them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed. <u>Dobbs v. State</u>, 950 So.2d 1029 (Miss. 2006) holds that when read as a whole, if the jury instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, then no reversible error will be found.

Brassfield v. State, 905 So.2d 754 (Miss. App. 2004) instructions should clearly inform jury

of elements of crimes and State's burden of proof, and there was no risk that jury was confused about elements of crime necessary to convict.

The Court does not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, it reads them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed. Smith v. State, 835 So.2d 927, 934 (Miss. 2002), Kelly v. State, 493 So.2d 356, 359 (Miss. 1986) and Norman v. State, 385 So.2d 1298, 1303 (Miss. 1980). Reading the jury instructions as a whole, all elements to the crime of capital murder are present and properly stated.

Appellant's counsel alleges that the last word in Instruction S - 13 should have been capital murder and not just murder. (Appellant Brief 11).

If any error exists at all, it is harmless. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 907 So.2d 389 (Miss.App.2005) holds that the plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and that the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice, and if a contemporaneous objection is not made at trial, an appellant must rely on plain error to raise the argument on appeal.

Moreover, the State's response to the "plan" and "cumulative" error argument is found in Genry v. State, 735 So.2d 186, 201 (Miss. 1999), where we find the following language:

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